
 
 
 

 
  3 February 2021 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
will meet on 

Thursday, 11 February 2021 

beginning at 
6:45 pm 

 
PLEASE NOTE: this will be a ‘virtual meeting’. The meeting can be viewed 

here: https://bit.ly/2Yhscwh 

 
TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair) 
 Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman 

Councillor Alan Broadhurst 
Councillor Nicholas Couldrey 
Councillor Jephthe Doguie 
Councillor James Duguid 
Councillor Judith Grajewski 
Councillor Tim Groves 
Councillor Lucy Jurd 
Councillor David Pragnell 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
Councillor Gin Tidridge 

 
CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader 
  
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 

8298; Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 
Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

  

NATALIE WIGMAN 
Corporate Director – Strategy 

____________________________________________________________________ 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website - 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in other formats, including 

Braille, audio, large print and other languages, upon request. 
 

PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen-in to 
proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the 
Council website at least 24hrs before the meeting. It is important, however, that 

Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the only 
participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers 
advising the Committee and any participants who have registered in advance to 

speak. This meeting may be recorded. 

 

Eastleigh House  
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

1

https://bit.ly/2Yhscwh
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies     
 
2. Declarations of Interest      
  
 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 

agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
  
3. Public Participation      
  
 Councillors not on Policy and Performance Committee and members of the public 

can participate during this section of the meeting in the following ways: 
 

 If you are able to participate live (meet the technical requirements) and wish to 

be present and speak, you will need to notify Democratic Services 4 working 

days (Midday Friday 5 February 2021) before the meeting. Technical and 

etiquette guides will be provided. 

 Alternatively, the public can email a statement to be read out by ‘the 

spokesperson’.  Emailed statements will need to be received 2 working days 

(Midday Tuesday 9 February 2021) before the date of the meeting. 

Democratic Services will confirm receipt of the email and confirm it can be read 

out. 

 The statement (including questions) will be the equivalent of a maximum 

of three minutes if read out.  Please therefore restrict your statement to one 

side of A4 (12 font).  This applies audio/ video recordings also. 

 Alternatively a MP4 file will be sent to Democratic Services 4 working days 

(Midday Friday 5 February 2021) before the meeting.  This must be 

accompanied by a written transcript (emailed). In the event that the file does not 

meet technical requirements the transcript will be read by the spokesperson 

and shown on the screen.  

 Please contact us via democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk 
  
4. Chair's Report     
 
5. General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Performance Monitoring to December 

2020    (To Follow) 
 
6. Housing Revenue Account    (Pages 5 - 20) 
 
7. Planning Enforcement Performance    (Pages 21 - 60) 

 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 11 March 2021 at 6:45 pm 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 

 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews  

 
 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL   

Thursday, 11 February 2021  

CABINET 

Monday, 22 February 2021 

OPENING A HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)  

Report of the Executive Head (Finance & Housing Programme)  

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that  Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel: 
 
(1) consider the options for affordable housing delivery as detailed in this report 

and make any recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) approve proposals to open a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to record 
expenditure and income arising from the provision of Affordable Housing 
accommodation by the Council as a Registered Local Provider; 

(3) delegate authority to the Executive Head (Finance & Housing Programme) to 
write to the Secretary of State declaring the intention to open an HRA.  

 

Summary 
 
As a result of the abolition of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) borrowing cap in 2018, 
local authorities are no longer constrained over borrowing for housebuilding and a number 
have reopened their HRA in order to build more homes directly.  The decision to reopen 
the HRA depends on the individual circumstances of the local authority.  Cabinet approval 
is sought to take steps to open the HRA, based on the options evaluated in conjunction 
with Savills as set out in the attached report (see Appendix 1). 

Statutory Powers 
 

Part II of the Housing Act 1985  
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
Housing Act 1988 
Local Government Act 2003 
Localism Act 2011 

 

5

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. Whilst re-opening the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a legislative matter, 
it has strategic implications because it is a mechanism for taking more direct 
control and influence over new affordable housing supply in the Borough.  
This addresses the Corporate Strategy: Housing objectives of accelerating the 
delivery of new homes, and encouraging a mix of housing types, tenure and 
sizes.  The proposal also addresses the ‘Tackling Deprivation’ objective by 
potentially improving access to lower-cost housing, reducing time waiting for 
affordable housing and helping to reduce homelessness. 

2. Cabinet endorsed an Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy in December 2020, 
which provides a direction of travel and aims for the Council’s Housing 
Programme activity from 2021. The Delivery Strategy confirms the Council’s 
aim to provide a more diverse supply of housing to Borough residents; and its 
ambition to become a landlord of choice across all tenure types. 

3. The Asset Management Strategy (2020-25) identifies a key role the Council 
has in reviewing its own land and buildings to support housing delivery. 
Further, the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy (2019-2024) 
highlights the importance of a new build programme for housing supply and 
accommodating homeless households. 

4. In June 2019 Cabinet also approved a Project Brief for development land west 
of Horton Heath to provide direction to the Council’s development project 
team.  A key aim of the Project Brief is for the development to include a 
minimum of 35% of new affordable homes. The Project Brief also includes an 
objective to explore financial models allowing the Council to retain this 
affordable housing (objective OR11).  

Introduction 

5. The Council disposed of all its housing stock back in 1996 as part of the large-
Scale Voluntary Transfer (LSVT) and as a result closed the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA). This transfer resulted in the creation of Eastleigh Housing 
Association who have subsequently become First Wessex and now VIVID.  

6. Since 2012 the Council has been working in partnership to deliver affordable 
and market rent homes in the Borough and construction on schemes started 
in 2016.  Across six sites, nearly 150 new affordable homes are either 
completed or under construction.  These homes are delivered and held on 
behalf of the Council because any ‘local housing authority’ that owns 200 or 
more social dwellings are required to account for them within an HRA. 

7. The Council’s Housing Programme, including delivery of a new sustainable 
community at One Horton Heath, means that inevitably the Council will shortly 
own more than 200 affordable homes.  The preference is to retain these 
assets in future, rather than dispose of them to a housing association. For 
example, the Council’s development team have submitted a planning 
application for 393 dwellings (Land west of Burnetts Lane, Eastleigh) 
(F/20/89500), to include 90 affordable rent homes. 

6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

8. The Council’s objectives are to ensure development addresses unmet 
housing needs; and that residents have security of tenure and receive a high-
quality management and maintenance service.  For this reason, the Council 
have been working with the Affordable Housing team at Savills who have 
advised that reopening the HRA is a feasible and appropriate next step for the 
Council (see attached report (December 2020) (Appendix 1). 

Background to Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

9. The HRA is often referred to as a ‘landlord account’. It is a ring-fenced 
account within the General Fund. The main items of income to the HRA are 
council tenants’ rent and service charge payments, while a key item of 
expenditure is the day-to-day management and maintenance of the housing 
stock.  The HRA is ring fenced by statute from the rest of the Council’s 
finances- i.e. it must be self-sufficient, but it cannot subsidise the Council’s 
General Fund. 

10. The HRA is “intended to record expenditure and income on running a 
council’s own housing stock and closely related services or facilities, which 
are provided primarily for the benefit of the Council’s own tenants”.  Further 
information is available at www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-revenue-account.  

11. Any local housing authority that owns 200 or more social dwellings are 
required to account for them within their HRA. 

12. As a district authority the Council is a ‘local housing authority’ and therefore 
needs to account for affordable dwellings it owns in the HRA (over 200 
dwellings) before it is permitted to borrow for housebuilding in line with the 
Prudential Code.  On 29 October 2018, the government confirmed that 
the HRA borrowing cap was abolished with immediate effect.  The Council 
would be able to borrow against its expected rental income from affordable 
dwellings, in line with the Prudential Code. 

Direct provision of affordable housing  

13. Following the Localism Act 2011 opportunities have arisen for local authorities 
to return to housebuilding, including setting up wholly or partly owned housing 
companies to build outside the restrictions (previously) imposed by the HRA.   

14. Since the relaxation of borrowing rules for investment in Council 
housebuilding, there are now opportunities to exert more control and influence 
over what is provided and at what cost, without relying on the establishment of 
‘arms length’ companies. The availability of grant from Homes England is also 
a key advantage not available to local authority companies.  This is discussed 
in the attached report (Appendix 1).   

 

 

 

7

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-revenue-account
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/limits-on-indebtedness-revocation-determination-2018


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

15. The One Horton Heath development will start to deliver dwellings from 
2022/23 and will increasingly form a major proportion of housing delivery in 
Eastleigh Borough over the following five years and beyond. Like other local 
authorities therefore, Eastleigh Borough Council plans to deliver affordable 
homes at a significant scale (as opposed to selling serviced parcels to the 
development industry, including providers of affordable homes).  Cabinet will 
consider a report on the delivery of the First Residential Parcel at One Horton 
Heath at the Cabinet meeting 22 February 2021. 

Options for affordable housing delivery  

16. Affordable housing for rent is where the rent is set in accordance with the 
Government’s rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent or is at least 20% 
below local market rents (including service charges where applicable) (as 
defined by the National Planning Policy Framework). The government’s policy 
on rents from 1 April 2020 onwards is set out in the Policy statement on rents 
for social housing (MHCLG, February 2019). 

17. The attached report (Appendix 1) sets out a summary of advice and analysis 
from Savills’ Housing Consultancy Director who was appointed to support 
evaluation of the options available for taking ownership of affordable housing.  
In summary there are four options available: 

A. Hold up to 199 homes outside the HRA under Direction and borrowing 
through the General Fund; 

And if the Council plans to deliver more than 200 affordable dwellings: 

B. Open a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in order to hold social and 
affordable rented homes using Part II 1985 Housing Act powers; 

C. Set up a new wholly owned subsidiary company (Local Housing 
Company) to be a Registered Provider of social and affordable homes 
(under Part 1 of the Localism Act 2011);  

D. Utilise an existing subsidiary company such as Aspect (Eastleigh) 
Limited (AEL) and register to become an affordable provider. 

Recommendations 

18. The recommendation in this report is to pursue option B above, and not to 
pursue options A, C and D at this current time. 

19. As described, there are several options available to the Council for the 
delivery of Affordable Homes, however due to the delivery pipeline coming 
forward it is recommended that the Council proceed with opening the HRA 
and do so in advance of delivery. It is noted that the Council can provide up to 
200 Affordable Homes within the General Fund however, trying to then 
separate the funding out in the future is very difficult and as the delivery 
pipeline of the programme quickly exceeds 200 homes it is considered that 
opening the HRA in advance is the most efficient way of working. 

8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

20. As in C & D above, Affordable Homes can be provided through an external 
vehicle however this is not considered appropriate for a number of reasons 
including; 

i. There are less funding options available to an external vehicle, 

ii. The level of regulation is the same (i.e. regulatory compliance with 
regards to being a Registered Provider would still apply), 

iii. The risk that governance and decision-making become increasingly 
independent of the Council as the company grows, 

iv. The inability to take advantage of the security the Council brand 
represents. 

21. As discussed with advisers from Savills, it is not uncommon for HRA 
authorities to operate housing companies alongside the authority’s direct 
delivery, and to register one or more of the companies with the Regulator. The 
process for registration is highly procedural however and typically takes 12-15 
months.  

22. Registering AEL as an affordable provider with the Regulator is therefore not 
recommended at this current time. As AEL currently provides market rental 
products it is considered important to ensure that the different tenure types 
can be treated in the most appropriate way both strategically and within the 
market and having two different delivery vehicles gives the Council the most 
flexibility. 

Steps to reopen the HRA 

23. The Council can maintain and monitor the HRA through its existing accounting 
channels.  Before doing so, the Council would need to declare its intention to 
open an HRA by writing to the Secretary of State. Guidance from MHCLG 
confirms the following steps to open an HRA: 

 Understand the requirements of an HRA,  

 calculate your Capital Finance Requirements,  

 plan your HRA budget,  

 open an HRA. You will report on your HRA in your usual annual audit. 

24. Provision of affordable homes in the HRA means that the Council would 
become a Public Registered Provider of Social Housing subject to Regulatory 
Standards set by the Regulator of Social Housing. 

9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Financial Implications 

25. There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report as the 
process of reopening an HRA will be managed by existing staff and any 
further support from Savills will be funded from existing budgets.  

26. The HRA is a ring-fenced account and will be administered by the existing 
finance team, it should be noted that any net financial surplus generated 
within the HRA must remain within this account and cannot be used to fund 
General Fund activities. Once opened a further report will be presented to 
seek approval for the business plan and running costs of the HRA.  

27. In addition, any new dwellings to be built or purchased within the HRA will 
also be presented to Cabinet for formal approval ensuring that all future 
decisions are cost effective and meet the Council’s overall Housing Strategy. 

Risk Assessment 

28. The legislative features of operating the HRA are discussed in the attached 
report (Appendix 1) but these are all using existing legal and statutory powers 
and as such do not present a new risk. Also the decision to re-open an HRA 
does not present any risks until such time as it undertakes any activity and 
these risks will be addressed in future reports as approval is sought.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

29. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal matters only.   The decision to open the HRA does 
not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people with protected 
characteristics.  Provision of affordable and social housing does have the 
potential however to advance equality of opportunity to certain groups e.g., 
people with disabilities, some BAME groups, and people on low incomes. In 
future, decisions related to the expenditure (included in the account) e.g. 
major repairs, may be subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA), 
although it is worth noting the HRA account is not a separate fund itself. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

30. The decision to open the HRA does not present any immediate implications 
for mitigating or adapting to climate change. However, having more direct 
control over a further element of housing delivery will help support the 
environmental aims as set out in the Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy.  

Conclusion 

31. Detailed advice has been received addressing the legislative, financial, and 
accounting provisions and frameworks that apply to the Housing Revenue 
Account and local housing company options.  In the context of the Council’s 
established housing programme and emerging affordable housing ambition, it 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

is recommended that the Housing Revenue Account is opened during 2021, 
to record expenditure and income arising from the provision of new affordable 
homes by the local housing authority. 

 

ANDY SMITH 
EXECUTIVE HEAD (FINANCE AND HOUSING PROGRAMME)  

 
Date: 26 January 2021 
Contact Officer: Andy Smith  
Tel No:  
e-mail: andy.smith@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  1 

 

   

 

  

   

   

 
Eastleigh Borough Council 
Options for affordable housing delivery 
Summary report 

 

 

 
 

   

 FINAL REPORT 
15 December 2020 

 

   

13



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  2 

1. Introduction 

Eastleigh Borough Council has identified a potential pipeline of properties that will be classified as affordable 

housing within an extensive programme for future residential developments.  Savills Affordable Housing 

Consultancy was appointed to assist the Council in assessing the options available to take ownership of the 

affordable homes in particular focusing on: 

 The issues arising from reopening a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 Alternative approaches that the Council could utilise to provide affordable properties outside of an HRA 

 The prospects of engaging in affordable housing delivery without an HRA or otherwise achieving Registered 

Provider (RP) status. 

 

This summary report provides a high level commentary on the key issues for the Council and makes suggestions 

as to what may be an appropriate way forward.   

 

This report is accompanied at annex 1 by a detailed report that addresses all of the key issues that arise from the 

legislative, financial and accounting provisions and frameworks that apply to the HRA and local housing company 

options.  During the course of this review, we have also prepared a high level financial model to test the financial 

viability and sustainability of the delivery options making a series of assumptions in relation to the forthcoming 

development at One Horton Heath, which is an extensive programme with over 800 homes.  Whilst these are 

illustrative and do not represent a formal appraisal, the modelling does highlight the key differences between the 

HRA and company options. The modelling outputs are included within the annex. 

 

2. Reopening the HRA: key features 

The Council has a range of powers to acquire and provide housing. The choice of power has financial and 

accounting implications.  The principal powers utilised are: 

 Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 – generally used to provide temporary accommodation 

 Part II of the Housing Act 1985 – to provide settled long-term council housing accommodation; and is linked 

via the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to accounting in an HRA 

 Part 1 of the Localism Act 2011 (the General Power of Competence) – generally to provide housing in 

subsidiary companies on a more flexible basis than provided for in an HRA. 

 

The Council is therefore able to use Part II 1985 Act powers to provide social and affordable rented homes for the 

long-term and account for them in a reopened HRA. 

 

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 prescribes how the HRA should be operated: 

 It is ring-fenced within the General Fund to cover the provision of landlord services 

 Income and expenditure must balance and the HRA reserve must not be in deficit 

 There is a separate capital programme with distinct sources of finance 

 There is a separate accounting and debt framework for the HRA. 

 

14



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  3 

When the Council originally closed its HRA in the 1990s, the financial and operational constraints on the HRA 

were severe.  Following a succession of legislative changes culminating in the abolition of the former HRA debt-

cap in 2018, all HRA income is now able to be retained and spent locally, and sustainable borrowing and 

investment can be undertaken in line with the wider local authority Prudential Code.   

 

If affordable provision is fewer than 200 homes, the Council could apply to MHCLG for a waiver not to have to 

reopen the HRA.  If provision is more than 200 homes, then the Council must reopen the HRA. 

 

As there is the ambition, a realistic pipeline and a set timeframe to achieve the provision of much more than 200 

social and affordable homes, the Council has the option to reopen the HRA from the outset. 

 

There are some administrative issues associated with operating a separate HRA but these are not felt to be 

onerous.  The Council has the capacity internally to acquire the necessary specialist knowledge and skills to 

operate an HRA.  There are no additional governance requirements for the HRA other than the requirement to 

budget for and report on a separate account. 

 

The HRA is able to be make a contribution to the costs of running the authority as whole - there would therefore 

be the opportunity to charge a proportion of corporate and central costs to the HRA (allocated in line with best 

accounting practice). 

 

The HRA would have a separate measure of debt and the finance charges associated with the HRA may allow 

the Council to achieve further value in its overall Treasury Management strategy; the recent reduction in PWLB 

rates in the November Spending Review announcement has reinforced this position. The debt measure would be 

zero if the HRA was opened from the outset; experience shows that a “split” into a new HRA for properties that 

are already in place in the General Fund can prove complex. 

 

Provision of affordable homes in the HRA means that the Council would become a Public Registered Provider of 

Social Housing subject to Regulatory Standards set by the Regulator of Social Housing.  Rents and rent increases 

would need to be set in line with the Rent Standard.  RP status allows Homes England grant to be claimed to help 

finance development and delivery. 

 

Tenants of HRA properties would have secure tenancies, which are generally lifetime (unless the Council opts for 

fixed term tenancies) which carry the Right to Buy. Right to Buy sales would be subject to the Cost Floor – meaning 

that irrespective of the discount applying to a sale, a property could not be sold for less than the capital costs 

incurred in the previous 15 years (including development and acquisition).   

 

Properties held in the HRA are subject to restrictions over their disposal, generally to ensure that property 

disposals represent value for money; disposals to companies and RPs are restricted even at sub-market rates. 

 

The HRA would not generally be able to hold market rent homes unless this was explicitly to cross-subsidise 

affordable homes – in any case these homes would be let on secure tenancies. 

 

15



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  4 

In the short term, the Council would need to engage a third party to provide housing management and repairs 

services; this could be a partner RP.  In time, and depending on scale, the Council would be able to develop its 

own in-house landlord service. 

 

Operation of a reopened HRA might therefore be felt to offer the “path of least resistance” to the scaling up of 

affordable housing provision by the Council to above 200 homes, borrowing at the cheapest rates with minimal 

additional governance and the opportunity to share existing corporate costs.   

 

The principal downsides are usually felt to be restrictions on rents and rent increases, asset disposals and the 

Right to Buy. 

 

3. Provision within the General Fund 

Housing provided solely for temporary accommodation would be held within the General Fund, although many 

authorities are also utilising HRA properties on a temporary basis to meet these duties in the short term given 

rising pressures on homelessness. 

 

Provision of long term settled affordable rented housing could only be provided in the General Fund up to 200 

homes and subject to MHCLG waiver on reopening an HRA.  If there was not a realistic path to the provision of 

more than 200 homes, this might suggest holding within the General Fund.    

 

4. Provision within an affordable Local Housing Company 

The Council could provide affordable housing in a newly created Local Housing Company (LHC).  In time, the 

Council could apply to the Regulator to have the LHC registered as a Registered Provider of Social Housing which 

would give it the opportunity to apply for grant from Homes England. 

 

The Council would need to clarify whether it would be possible for a non-RP company to acquire s106 affordable 

homes according to its local planning and housing policies. 

 

The LHC option gives more flexibility around provision as there would be no regulatory restrictions on rents; this 

could provide for diversified affordable housing offers e.g. Key Workers, intermediate rents, bespoke shared 

ownership schemes, rent to buy schemes etc; these are not applicable in the HRA. 

 

The LHC would be a separate entity, with a separate board, governance and accounting arrangements. A board 

of directors would need to be appointed and a Managing Director designated to operate the company (which in 

all probability would be a seconded officer from the Council). 

 

The LHC would be funded by the Council providing loans into the company; these would be at a higher rate than 

the HRA and suggest that rents would need to be higher in the company.   

 

16



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  5 

As rents would still be below market, State Aid considerations do not apply to the LHC (compared, for example, 

to the Council’s existing market renting company).  However, the Council would still want to lend at a premium in 

order to cover the greater risks of operating a separate company. 

 

Tenants of the company would be on Assured Shorthold Tenancies as they would be in the private sector, albeit 

at “affordable” sub-market rents. 

 

In the short term, the LHC would need to engage a third party to provide housing management and repairs 

services; this could be a partner RP.  In time, and depending on scale, the LHC may be able to develop its own 

in house services. 

 

There are tax (VAT and Corporation Tax) implications within the LHC option – these would be offset by the 

opportunity to raise a premium return on lending to the Council. 

 

The creation of an affordable company could draw on the experience that the Council has had in already setting 

up a subsidiary company to provide housing. 

 

5. Provision of affordable housing within Aspects  

In theory, the Council could extend the provision of housing by Aspects to include affordable housing.  This could 

have the advantage of the governance arrangements already being in place and thereby result in lower set up 

costs compared to a new standalone company. 

 

In many respects, the features and factors associated with running a LHC apply to this route: greater flexibility, 

returns to the Council via the financing mechanism, tax implications, asset trading etc. 

 

There are however potential complexities in respect of State Aid and financing.  Affordable housing would not be 

viable at the commercial borrowing rates that apply to market housing; there would therefore need to be two 

separate lending approaches.  State Aid compliance could be affected by the need to demonstrate separation 

between the two sides of the business.  Management arrangements would also need to be different for the 

affordable housing provision.  The board might require a different skills mix. 

 

6. Registration of a company as a RP 

There are a number of authorities that have moved to register an affordable housing company as an RP; the 

process is very procedural and is currently taking up to 15 months.  Our sense is that this option is being pursued 

in addition to HRA provision in order to combine the flexibility of a company with the ability to bring in grant from 

Homes England, and in some cases to avoid the Right to Buy. 

 

The position on registration for a merged market and affordable housing company is likely to be more complex.  

The Regulator has encouraged a clear separation of “market” from “social/affordable” housing activities in recent 

years and an application for registration would in effect be from a private provider seeking to provide a new stream 

of affordable housing.  It is almost certain that the Regulator would require a separate entity to register. 

17



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  6 

7. Financial modelling 

Our initial assessment of the financial model of acquiring and then providing 800+ affordable homes within the 

One Horton Heath development is that the Council should be able to develop a viable and sustainable business 

plan for either the HRA or a company.   

 

The potential to achieve this level of scale in the medium term should provide additional reassurance around the 

financial viability of an HRA. 

 

The local housing company model is financially viable but, compared to the HRA, is subject to higher costs and 

some tax leakage, which could be offset by a premium return on lending for the Council.  Rents would therefore 

almost certainly have to be set higher than in the HRA. 

 

8. Proposed approach  

It is understood that the Council has an ambition to provide social and affordable housing directly, and at some 

scale. 

 

Subject to committing to a significant pipeline of development and acquisition, which has a realistic trajectory 

above 200 homes in the short-medium term (3-5 years), the suggested way forward would be to acquire housing 

under Part II of the Housing Act 1985 and reopen the HRA from the outset.  

 

There are no barriers to this approach.  The HRA now is able to draw on financial flexibilities that are materially 

different to when the Council originally closed its HRA in the 1990s. 

 

This approach would: 

 Recognise both the ambitions of, and direction of travel within, the Council 

 Allow the cheapest funding, minimal additional governance and the opportunity to share costs between the 

General Fund and HRA 

 Avoid the need to apply for waiver to hold in the General Fund in the short-term 

 Avoid the need to split the finances between General Fund and HRA if the HRA was not reopened from the 

outset 

 Gain some protection from Right to Buy into the medium term  

 Also allow the Council to provide temporary accommodation from the HRA on a temporary basis if required. 

 

Communication with, and an application to, MHCLG to reopen the HRA is likely to be a formality. 

 

The HRA could commence separate accounting from any period, however a 1st April start would seem sensible, 

linked to the first year that expenditure on HRA assets would be incurred.   We understand this could be 2021.22. 

 

The Council would reopen the HRA in the full knowledge of the constraints and restrictions on its operation, 

principally rents, asset disposal and the nature of the tenancies, and that these can managed appropriately. 

 

18



 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council: Affordable Housing delivery 

 

 
   

Eastleigh Borough Council  December 2020  7 

Should the Council wish to also make provision of non-Social Housing, non-s106 but still sub-market housing, an 

affordable local housing company could operate alongside a reopened HRA; the Council might therefore keep 

this option under review, particularly as it already has experience of setting up and operating a subsidiary housing 

company. 

 

Enclosed 

Annex 1: detailed report and financial analysis 

 

 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 

 
THURSDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2021 

 
PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PERFORMANCE 

 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE HEAD OF PLANNING AND ECONOMY  
 

 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel members note 
the positive enhancements to the delivery of the Planning Enforcement service 
and the improving performance. 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
In January 2020 the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Planning Enforcement Policy 
was presented to Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel with a commitment to 
improve overall performance within the planning enforcement service. The Policy 
provided context for the delivery of the planning enforcement service and set out 
performance expectations. Since April 2019, performance monitoring has been 
undertaken by the Head of Housing and Development and an improvement in 
performance was demonstrated in January 2020 with a commitment to continue to 
improve the level of service provided to its customers. Reporting on performance is 
important in demonstrating value of a service and staff have continued to produce 
quarterly performance reports which are circulated to the officers, elected councillors 
and parish council representatives.  
 
Statutory Powers 
 
Town and Country Planning Act (1990) 

 
 
Strategic Implications 
 
1. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy provides a robust basis on which to 

ensure development within the Borough is brought forward as planned and 
provides clarity on the measures that can be taken to address breaches of 
planning legislation where it is harmful to the environment and public amenity. 
The Policy and performance targets set out within this play a significant part in 
addressing three strategic priorities of: 

 
➢ Excellent environment for all 

21

Agenda Item 7



➢ Enabling healthier lifestyles / wellbeing 

➢ Increased provision and more diverse mix of housing 
 

Introduction 
 
2. Effective enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the planning 

system. Enforcement action is discretionary, and local planning authorities should 
act proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of planning control. The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recommends Local Planning 
Authorities (LPA) provide clarity on their enforcement powers and clearly set out 
how alleged planning breaches will be investigated within an enforcement plan. 

 
3. Confidence in the planning system is underpinned by a robust and timely 

approach to enforcement, including performance monitoring to enable the quality 
of the service to be evaluated. Since autumn 2018, improvements in monitoring 
and reporting of planning enforcement performance have been introduced which 
demonstrate an encouraging improvement.  

 
4. In January 2020, with the launch of the Planning Enforcement Policy 

commitments were made to improve overall performance and reporting of 
performance, improve communication with customers and the greater publicity of 
successes. Achieving these commitments would be assisted with the successful 
recruitment to the vacant third enforcement post, providing an online interactive 
enforcement register and more proactive condition monitoring.  

 
5. At their January 2020 meeting, the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted 

the improvement in planning enforcement action and made the following 
recommendations: 

 
(a) To ensure that there are appropriate resources council-wide, including 

within the Legal team, to pursue enforcement action, 
(b) To continue operating robustly, 
(c) To focus on proactive enforcement, including the monitoring of S.106 

agreements, 
(d) To improve and formalise communication with complainants, members 

and residents 
 

6. In March 2020, the ability of the enforcement service to operate at full 
capacity was hindered during the initial stages of lockdown no.1 as revised 
Safe Systems of Work were developed. All but the highest priority site visits 
were ceased, with formal enforcement action paused and extension of time to 
compliance periods agreed for a period of approximately two to three months. 
Cases were still registered during this period with as much case work 
undertaken from home as was possible. 

 
 
 
 

Planning Enforcement - an improving service 

22



 
7. The Planning Enforcement Service was subject to a review in the summer of 

2018 and improvements introduced to deliver a more effective, efficient and 
resilient service. A number of measures were put in to place to enhance the 
service including: 

 

• Expanding the specialist enforcement officers team from 2 to 3.  

• Updating and publishing the Local Planning Enforcement Policy. 

• The management of the end-to-end process of the lower priority cases 
(priority level 3 and 4) within the Localities team 

• More robust approach to enforcement through shorter compliance timescales 
and closer working with the Borough’s legal team 

• Weekly reporting of the number of live cases to staff and Councillors. 

• Introduction of monthly and quarterly Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) on 
the speed of site visits and the number of cases closed. 

• Production of a quarterly report on performance statistics and narrative on the 
enforcement activities for the preceding quarter.  

 
8. The quarterly report includes information on: 
 

• Number of new cases registered, 

• Number of cases closed and reasons for closing them 

• The location of the alleged breach or breach by Parish area 

• The number of proactive condition monitoring cases 

• Performance against Key Performance Indicator targets 

• Number of formal action cases 

• Updates on enforcement appeals 

• Updates on prosecutions 

• Updates on staffing matters. 
 

9. The performance monitoring information is used by the Senior Enforcement 
Officer and the Executive Head of Planning & Economy to actively manage 
performance of the Service. The annual report for 2019-20 is attached for 
reference (appendix 1) along with the quarterly reports for the first three quarters 
of 2020/21 (appendix 2, 3 and 4).   

 
Planning Enforcement – performance reporting 
 
10. Key headlines on the performance of the enforcement service are summarised 

below: 
 
Cases per year 
 
11. Cases Registered During the year 2019/20: a total of 482 new cases were 

registered in the Borough compared to 458 for 2018/19 – a rise of 5%. In the first 
10 months of 2020/21, 497 cases have been registered up to 31 January 2021. 

 

23



12. Cases Concluded: The Enforcement team & Localities team concluded 498 
cases during 2019/20 compared to 472 in 2018/19 – a rise of 6%. In the first 10 
months of 2020/21, 467 cases have been concluded up to 31 January 2021. 

 
13. The anticipated increase in cases concluded for the current YTD can be 

attributed in part to an increase in reported breaches and enforcement staff 
formally registering all breaches rather than addressing some cases informally. 
More cases are concluded than received as a result of the backlog of cases 
being reduced. 

 
Reasons for closing a case % 
 

Reason 2019/20 2020/21 (up to 31 
Jan 2021) 

No breach 42% 43% 

Breach resolved 28% 27% 

Retrospective application received Not recorded 4% 

Breach passed to another agency 16% 4% 

Not expedient 10% 11% 

Permission granted 2% 7% 

Duplicate cases 2% 3% 

 
 
 
Number of live cases 
 
14. In November 2017, on average there were 210 live enforcement cases divided 

equally between enforcement specialists (priority 1 and 2s) and the Localities 
Team (priority 3 and 4s). This had reduced significantly as of 6 January 2020 to 
153 cases (down 57) of which 84 cases are with enforcement specialists and 69 
cases are with the Localities Team. The initial reduction in live cases can be 
attributed to staff acting on complaints in a more efficient manner in line with the 
revised policy.  

 
15. In 2020/21, overall case numbers have increased to 178 (up 25), 100 cases with 

the specialists and 78 with the Localities team. The increase can be attributed to 
a significant rise in cases received due to a greater awareness of issues being 
identified whilst residents have been working from home during the COVID-19 
pandemic.  

 
Number of Notices Served 
 
16. Between 2014/15 and 2016/17 a total of 10 Notices were served in respect of 

breaches or alleged breaches of the planning. Adopting a more robust approach 
to planning enforcement has witnessed a considerable rise in notices being 
served, including Enforcement Notices, with 16 Notices served in 2017/18 (7 
Enforcement Notices) and 31 Notices served in 2018/19 (5 Enforcement 
Notices). In 2019/20, a slightly lower number of formal notices were served at 25 
but with an increase in Enforcement notices (7 Enforcement Notices).  

 

24



17. In the first 9 months of 2020/21, 13 Notices were served (3 Enforcement 
Notices). Formal action was put on hold during the COVID-19 and was resumed 
mid-June 2020 and this is reflected in the reduced number of Notices served. 

 

Proactive condition monitoring 

18. Proactive monitoring of conditions (i.e. officers visiting sites to ensure compliance 
with approved conditions or identifying conditions that have not been applied to 
discharge) has not been as successfully implemented compared to other areas of 
enforcement service. In 2019/20, 12 condition monitoring cases were recorded as 
part of the enforcement service workload and officers regularly attended site to 
observe activities.  In 2020/21, currently 7 condition monitoring cases have been 
reviewed and closed. Whilst not forming part of the recorded enforcement 
officer’s workload, development sites are often informally monitored by 
Development Management staff as part of the condition discharge process as 
well as informally by the enforcement and localities teams. A formal condition 
monitoring case does not have to be raised to ensure development is complying 
with the approved plans and many deviations from plans are captured under the 
reactive workload of officers. The pro-active enforcement component of the 
enforcement officer role will be increased once the current vacant enforcement 
post is recruited to.  

 
Site visits timescales – performance improved. 
 
19. An overall target of 80% has been set for conducting an initial site visit within the 

relevant timescale for each priority. Site visit performance to date in 2020/21 is 
summarised in the table below. Note that Priority 4 cases are desk-based 
assessments and do not always require a site visit: 

 
Priority Target days - % of cases within target 
 

• Priority 1 - 74% (2019/20) improving significantly to 93% in Q1-Q3 of 2020/21 

• Priority 2 - 79% (2019/20) improving significantly to 89% in Q1-Q3 of 2020/21 

• Priority 3 - 82% (2019/20) improving slightly to 84% in Q1-Q3 of 2020/21 
 
20. The overall target is met for all priorities.  
 
Concluding cases within timescale 
 
21. An ambitious overall target of 80% has been set for concluding enforcement 

cases within the relevant timescale for each priority.  
 
Priority Target days - % of cases within target 
 

• Priority 1 - 70% (2019/20) improving significantly to 90% in 2020/21 YTD. 
• Priority 2 - 64% (2019/20) dropping slightly to 57% in 2020/21 YTD. 
• Priority 3 - 51% (2019/20) improving slightly to 52% in 2020/21 YTD. 
• Priority 4 - 20% (2019/20) improving significantly to 85% in 2020/21 YTD. 

 

25



22. The target of 80% has been achieved for some priorities within a specific month 
but it has not been achieved consistently for all priorities within either a month or 
quarter. However, it is encouraging that the high priority cases where unlawful 
development can cause serious harm to amenity are performing best. 
Appendices 2, 3 and 4 provides further information for 2020/21. 

 
23. The performance on concluded cases is against a background of a continued 

increase in formal Notices being served compared to 2018 and an increase in 
appeals lodged which are resource and time hungry. The specialist team was 
expanded to three members of staff in April 2020 with the external appointment of 
an experienced Planning Enforcement Officer, this officer left the organisation in 
December 2020 and the team is currently operating with 2 enforcement 
specialists. This has had an impact on performance on the higher priority cases. 
The service is currently recruiting to this vacant post. Once this post has been 
recruited to it is anticipated that performance will continue to increase over the 
coming months. 

 
24. The statistics and performance figures portray an increase in the number of 

breaches investigated and a more robust delivery of the enforcement but further 
improvements to the service can still be made to meet the ambitious target set for 
the closure of cases. 

 

Communication 
 

25. Over the course of 2020, a regular Planning Enforcement / Legal liaison meeting 
has been established on a bi-monthly basis. This has allowed staff to engage 
regularly and discuss the progress of cases that require formal action and 
support from the legal team. The meetings are attended by the Planning 
Enforcement Specialists and three officers from the Legal Services team. Both 
teams, once recruitment to the recently vacated planning enforcement post is 
completed, are sufficiently resourced to ensure performance remains positive. 
 

26. The importance of the communication is highlighted at training sessions and 
regular staff meetings to ensure all parties are updated more regularly, even if 
cases have not had significant changes. However, it is accepted that it is not 
always possible to proactively update all parties (of which there may be many on 
a particularly case) on a monthly basis.  

 

Financial Implications 
 
27. There are no additional financial implications arising from this Performance 

Report and ongoing resources are funded within existing resources 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
28. There are no significant Climate Change implications from this report, or the 

Planning Enforcement service itself.  
 

26



Risk Assessment 
 
29. There are no risks in noting the performance measures which have been 

developed after careful consideration of best practice, legislative requirements 
and council resources. 

 
Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
30. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision does 

not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people. An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out. 

 

Conclusion 
 
31. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel supported the launch of the updated 

Local Planning Enforcement Policy in January 2020 and noted the improving 
performance of the Council’s planning enforcement service at that time. In 
accordance with the Local Planning Enforcement Policy, the Key Performance 
Indicators are reported along with other performance indicators and statistics on 
a weekly, monthly and quarterly basis. 

 
32. There has been a year-on-year increase in the number of reported breaches of 

planning. In response to the need to deliver a more robust planning enforcement 
service, cases continue to be actioned and concluded quicker than in more 
recent years. 

 
33. Over the last year improvements have been seen across a range of performance 

indicators including; 
 

• New complaints received YTD up 3% (+15 cases) 

• Cases concluded currently 477 and expected to pass 498 of 19/20 

• 16 Condition Monitoring cases registered 20/21 - up 31% from 19/20. 

• 13 retrospective applications received, an increase of 5  

• KPIs have all improved.  

34. To improve the service further, the formal action process between Enforcement 
and Legal has been reviewed and amended to increase efficiency and 
effectiveness. The two teams meet bi-monthly to discuss cases that require 
formal action. Furthermore, communication and updates of interested parties on 
cases has improved.  

35. Overall, the service has had a successful year and it is recommended that the 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the improving performance of the 
planning enforcement function.  

 

27



 
ANDY GRANDFIELD 

EXECUTIVE HEAD OF PLANNING AND ECONOMY 

 
 
Date: 01 February 2021 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: ANDY GRANDFIELD 
Tel No: 023 8068 8267 
e-mail: andy.grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 
Appendices – Attached 4.  
 

1) Annual Enforcement Report 2019 – 20202 
 

2) Planning Enforcement Quarterly Report (Quarter 1) 1 April – 30 June 2020 
 

3) Planning Enforcement Quarterly Report (Quarter 2) 1 July – 30 Sept 2020 

4) Planning Enforcement Quarterly Report (Quarter 3) 1 Oct – 31 Dec 2020 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 
 
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 
 
* List Background Papers - None. 

28

mailto:andy.grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk


Eastleigh Borough Council 

Specialist Services 

 Housing & Development 

 

 

Planning Enforcement 

Annual Report 

2019/20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29



1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. This report seeks to provide a summary of the work undertaken, by the Enforcement 

Specialists and Local Response team across the Eastleigh borough relating to Planning 

Enforcement, for the period of 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. It reports the statistics for the 

work undertaken in the financial year of 2019/20, as well as a comparison of other relevant 

statistical data. 

 

2. NUMBER OF NEW COMPLAINTS 

 

2.1. The work of the enforcement team remains principally reactive to complaints and queries 

from Members, Parish Councils, staff and the public about alleged breaches of planning 

control. Team members, however, also have a number of cases which include proactive 

monitoring and engagement into planning matters. During the year 2019/20, a total of 482 

new cases were registered in the Borough compared to 458 for 2018/19 – a rise of 5%. 

The distribution of these cases received across this period is illustrated in Figure 1 below 

and compares the data of 2018/19. 

 

   2018/19                                      2019/20 

 

3. NUMBER OF CASES CLOSED 

 

3.1. The Enforcement team & Local Response team concluded 498 cases during 2019/20 

compared to 472 in 2018/19 – a rise of 6%. This figure includes several highly complex 

cases, both new and a few brought forward from the past twelve months. The distribution 

of cases closed is illustrated in Figure 2 below and compares the data 2018/19. 

 

45
50

43
37

32

45

52

43

72
69

64

78

96

81

72

60

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Enforcement Local Response

30



 
      2018/19                                         2019/20 

 

3.2. The number of cases closed across the Parishes for 2019/20; 

 

Parish 
Q1 

Apr-Jun 
Q2 

Jul-Sep 
Q3 

Oct-Dec 
Q4 

Jan-Mar 
Total 

 

Allbrook & North Boyatt Parish Council 
1 2 1 1 5 

 

Bishopstoke Parish Council 
12 12 11 6 41 

 

Botley Parish Council 
2 8 5 7 22 

 

Bursledon Parish Council 
9 10 9 12 40 

 

Chandlers Ford Parish Council 
33 34 26 17 111 

 

Hamble-Le-Rice Parish Council 
5 3 7 10 25 

 

Hedge End Town Council 
18 14 10 16 58 

 

Hound Parish Council 
15 9 2 5 30 

 

Eastleigh 
19 9 13 18 59 

 

Fair Oak & Horton Heath 
18 15 11 11 55 

 

West End Parish Council 
19 11 14 8 52 

 

Outside of Borough 
0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 151 127 109 111 498 

 

 

 

 

 

39

47 49

59

50

62

44

5756 58

80
84

97

65 65

54

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Enforcement Local Response

31



3.3. An enforcement case can be considered closed for a number of reasons, as shown in 

Table 2. The proportion of each reason type is also provided within this table. 

 

No. 
closed 

% Reason Explanation 

207 42% No Breach Development subject of the complaint or 
enquiry had; 

a. The benefit of planning permission 
b. Fell with ‘Permitted Development’ 

tolerances; or 
c. Did not constitute ‘development’ within 

the meaning of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

141 28% Breach Resolved The enquiry/complaint has been resolved 

81 16% Passed to Other 
Agency 

Issue being investigated by other agency 
such as Environment Agency, Hampshire 
County Council etc. 
A retrospective application has been 
received as a result of the enforcement 
investigation and is being determined by the 
Planning department. 

51 10% Not Expedient Where a decision has been made that it 
would not be expedient to pursue formal 
enforcement action.  

8 2% Permission Granted Planning permission had already been 
granted. 

10 2% Duplicate The issue is already being dealt with under 
another Enforcement reference number. 

Table 2: Cases closed 2019/20 

 

3.4. The conclusions drawn on the cases closed during 2019/20 are illustrated within Figure 3. 

 

 
Figure 3: The conclusion of cases in 2019/20. 

 

3.5. In the case of ‘Not Expedient’, the breach has been considered against the planning 

policies contained within the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Plan 2001-2011, the 

207

141

81

51
8

10

Closed Cases

No Breach

Breach Resolved

Passed to Other Agency

Not Expedient

Permission Granted

Duplicate

32



emerging Local Plan 2016-2036 and other material considerations such as National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 

 

As such, it was concluded that it would be inappropriate to take formal enforcement action, 

against these specific breaches, as the breach is either trivial or causes minimal harm in 

planning terms. 

 

This can be for a variety of reasons for example, an extension that is 10cm higher than 

allowed under Permitted Development, untidy land where it is not considered significantly 

detrimental to the neighbourhood amenity etc. 

 

4. CONDITION MONITORING 

 

4.1. Of the 498 cases closed, 12 of these were Condition Monitoring cases; 

 

BHH 

 E/17/16625 – Long View, Bursledon Road, Hedge End 

 ENF/2019/228 – VT Sports Ground, Portsmouth Road, Bursledon 

 E/16/16173 – Goslings Turning, Orchard Lodge, Providence Hill, Bursledon 

 

BIFOHH 

 ENF/2018/27 – R & R Contractors, Orchard Close, 79 Mortimers Lane, Fair Oak 

 ENF/2018/71 – Land at Fair Oak Road, Fair Oak 

 ENF/2019/462 – Limewood Grange, Allington Lane, Fair Oak 

 ENF/2019/463 – Fair Oak Lodge, Allington Lane, Fair Oak 

 

EA 

 E/15/15714 – British Bakeries Ltd, Toynbee Road, Eastleigh 

 E/16/16419 – Woodside Avenue Allotments, Woodside Avenue, Eastleigh 

 ENF/2017/46 – Eastleigh College of Further Education, Desborough Road, 

Eastleigh 

 

HEWEB 

 ENF/2018/423 – Former Home Farm, St Johns Road, Hedge End 

 E/10/14169 – Former Kings Copse Primary School, Hedge End 

 

 

4.2. Condition monitoring cases are not included in the KPI statistics within section 6 of this 

report as they are invariably lengthy investigations that include multiple phases of 

monitoring over significant periods of time and would fall outside of the priority target dates. 

 

5. RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATIONS 

 

5.1. During 2019/20, 48 applications were registered as containing a retrospective element 

arising from an enforcement investigation. This was made up of 37 householder 

applications, 9 full applications and 2 applications for advertisement consent and they 

included the following; 

 

33



 

 

• Outbuildings 

• New access 

• Boundary treatments 

• Tree house  

• Single storey extensions 

• Advertisements 

• Change of Use 

 

Of these applications, 31 (64%) have been approved, 7 (15%) were refused, 1 (2%) was 

withdrawn and 9 (19%) are awaiting determination.  

 

5.2. These applications generated income of £11,360 for 2019/20. 

 

6. PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 

6.1. Eastleigh Borough Council has a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) relating to 

Planning Enforcement. Please note: Condition Monitoring & High Hedge cases are not 

included within the KPI statistics. 

 

6.2. The first KPI relates to concluding cases specific to their priority – target 80% (please see 

table below); 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 30 days 47 33 14 70% 

P2 90 days 140 89 51 64% 

P3 42 days 280 144 136 51% 

P4 42 days 15 3 12 20% 

 

P1 – 6 of the 14 cases outside of target were concluded within 10 days of the target date. 5 

were concluded within one month and 3 were between 1 and 2 months after the target date.  

 

P2 – 15 of the 51 cases outside of target were concluded within three months of the target 

date. 9 were within three to six months, 14 within six to twelve months and 13 were 

concluded more than twelve months after the target date. The vast majority of these cases 

were historic that have involved processes such as lengthy investigations, formal notices 

being served and waiting for appeals to be determined.  

 

P3/4 – The Local Response Manager has been asked to investigate these figures and will 

report back once carried out. 

 

6.3. The second KPI relates to the investigating officer carrying out the initial site visit within a 

particular time – target 80% (please see table below); 

 

34



Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 1 working 
day 

47 35 12 74% 

P2 10 working 
days 

140 111 29 79% 

P3 20 working 
days 

280 230 50 82% 

* Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop assessment and are therefore not targeted. 

 

7. FORMAL ACTION 

 

7.1. During 2019/20, 25 formal Notices were served compared to 31 for the same period in 

2018/19; 

 

Enforcement Notice  - 7 

Breach of Condition Notice - 1 

Stop/Temp Stop Notice  - 4 

Planning Contravention Notice - 1 

Section 215 Notice   - 3 

Section 330 Notice   - 9 

 

There are currently 5 Notices waiting to be served however, due to the COVID-19 

outbreak, we are unable to serve these at this time. These will be served as soon as 

business returns to normal. 

 

8. ENFORCEMENT APPEALS 

 

8.1. During the year 2019/20, 3 enforcement appeal decisions have been issued by the 

Planning Inspectorate – 2 dismissed and 1 allowed. These related to the following cases; 

 

• E/16/16252 – Seddul Bahr, Allington Lane, Fair Oak.  

An Enforcement Notice served stating ‘Unauthorised Change of Use from 

agricultural to storage & distribution.’ The appeal was allowed on 16 December 

2019 and costs awarded to the appellant. 

• ENF/2019/279 – 20 Corinthian Road, Chandlers Ford.  

An Enforcement Notice served for the unauthorised erection of a fence in excess of 

1 metre in height above ground level and adjacent to the highway. The appeal was 

dismissed on 10 February 2020 and the appellant has been requested to reduce 

the fence to 1m. 

• ENF/2018/319 – Land at corner of Peewit Hill and West End Road, Hedge End.  

An Enforcement Notice served for the unauthorised siting of a container. The 

appeal was dismissed on 14 March 2020 and the appellant has been requested to 

remove the container from site. 

 

 

 

 

 35



8.2. 3 appeals were validated by the Planning Inspectorate during the past year; 

 

• Little Hatts Recreation Ground, Botley (Enforcement Notice for unauthorised 

fencing in excess of 1m adjacent to the highway) 

• 20 Corinthian Road, Chandlers Ford (Enforcement Notice for unauthorised 

fencing in excess of 1m adjacent to the highway) 

• Twelve Acres, Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End (s215 Notice for untidy land) 

 

 

8.3. The above appeal relating to Twelve Acres (ENF/2019/67) was subsequently withdrawn. A 

Section 215 Notice was served regarding untidy land however, following a meeting with the 

owner of the land, the land was cleared before the appeal was validated by PINS and 

therefore no longer required. 

 

8.4. As of 31 March 2020, we have 3 appeals ongoing; 

 

REF LOCATION NOTICE & BREACH OFF STATUS 

E/16/16309 4 New Road, 
Netley Abbey 

EN – Unauthorised side 
extension 

PW Awaiting 
start date 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, off 
Tickner Close, 

Botley 

EN – Unauthorised 
Operational Development 
(Metal framed building & 

Tree House) 

CL/PW Start date 
10/03/20 

and Public 
Inquiry set 

for 3-5 
November 

2020 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, off 
Tickner Close, 

Botley 

EN – Unauthorised Change 
of Use (Agricultural Use to 
mixed use of Agriculture, 
Equestrian, stationing of 

caravans and non-
agricultural business use 

and storage) 

CL/PW Start date 
10/03/20 

and Public 
Inquiry set 

for 3-5 
November 

2020 

 

 

9. PROSECUTIONS 

 

9.1. In October a prosecution for non-compliance with an Enforcement Notice began in relation 

to a site in Bursledon. During the first hearing one of the two offenders failed to show at 

Southampton Magistrates Court so the case was adjourned for November. Before the 

second hearing date, the owner decided to comply with the requirements of the 

Enforcement Notice and following a compliance check, the prosecution was withdrawn and 

the file closed. 

 

 

 

 

NAME: PHIL WISEMAN 

DATE:  30 April 2020 

36



Eastleigh Borough Council 

Specialist Services 

 Housing & Development 

 

 

Planning Enforcement 

Quarterly Report 

(Quarter 1) 

 

 

1 April – 30 June 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37



1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. This report seeks to provide a summary of the work undertaken, by the Enforcement 

Specialists and Local Response team across the Eastleigh borough relating to Planning 

Enforcement, for the period of 1 April to 30 June 2020. It reports the first quarterly statistics 

contributing to the work undertaken in the financial year of 2020/21, as well as a 

comparison of other relevant statistical data. 

 

2. NUMBER OF NEW COMPLAINTS 

 

2.1. The work of the enforcement team remains principally reactive to complaints and queries 

from Members, Parish Councils, staff and the public about alleged breaches of planning 

control. Team members, however, also have a number of cases which include proactive 

monitoring and engagement into planning matters. During the first quarter of 2020/21, a 

total of 146 new cases were registered in the Borough compared to 128 for the same 

period in 2019/20, a rise of 14%. The distribution of these cases received across this 

period is illustrated in Figure 1 below and compares the data of the first quarter in 2019/20. 

 

 

   2020/21       2019/20 

 

3. NUMBER OF CASES CLOSED  

 

3.1. The Enforcement Specialists & Local Response team concluded 109 cases during the first 

quarter of 2020/21 compared to 151 in 2019/20, a fall of 28%. One of the reasons for this 

reduction is the impact COVID-19 had on the ability of the Enforcement team to visit site 

and therefore make a full assessment of an alleged breach prior to concluding the case. 

This figure also includes a number of highly complex cases, both new and a few brought 

forward from the past twelve months. The distribution of cases closed is illustrated in 

Figure 2 below and compares the data with the first quarter of 2019/20. 

 

10

45

23
18

10
4

13

21

34

24

42

30

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Apr May Jun Apr May Jun

Enforcement Specialists

Local Response

38



 
      2020/21          2019/20 

 

3.2. The number of cases closed across the Parishes 1 April – 30 June 2020; 

 

Parish 
Apr-
Jun 

 

Allbrook & North Boyatt Parish Council 
4 

 

Bishopstoke Parish Council 
8 

 

Botley Parish Council 
3 

 

Bursledon Parish Council 
12 

 

Chandlers Ford Parish Council 
16 

 
Eastleigh 

12 

 

Fair Oak & Horton Heath 
7 

 

Hamble-Le-Rice Parish Council 
3 

 

Hedge End Town Council 
13 

 

Hound Parish Council 
14 

 

West End Parish Council 
17 

 

Outside of Borough 
0 

TOTAL 109 

 

 

 

 

 

13
9

18
14

19
17

14

22

33

26

37
34

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Apr May Jun Apr May Jun

Enforcement Specialists

Local Response

39



3.3. An enforcement case can be considered closed for a number of reasons, as shown in 

Table 2. The proportion of each reason type is also provided within this table. 

 

No. 
closed 

% Reason Explanation 

60 55% No Breach Development subject of the complaint or 
enquiry had; 

a. The benefit of planning permission 
b. Fell with ‘Permitted Development’ 

tolerances; or 
c. Did not constitute ‘development’ within 

the meaning of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

32 29% Breach Resolved The enquiry/complaint has been resolved 

6 6% Passed to Other 
Agency 

Issue being investigated by other agency 
such as Environment Agency, Hampshire 
County Council etc. 

8 7% Not Expedient Where a decision has been made that it 
would not be expedient to pursue formal 
enforcement action.  

1 1% Retro App received Retrospective application received as a result 
of the enforcement investigation. 

1 1% Permission Granted Either planning permission had already been 
granted or a retrospective application was 
submitted and approved. 

1 1% Duplicate The issue is already being dealt with under 
another Enforcement reference number. 

Table 2: Cases closed during Quarter 1 – 2019/20 

 

3.4. The conclusions drawn on the cases closed during the first quarter of 2020/21 are 

illustrated within Figure 3. 

 

 
Figure 3: The conclusion of cases in the first quarter 1 April – 30 June 2020. 

 

60

32

6

8
4

1

Closed Cases

No Breach

Breach Resolved

Passed to Other Dept/Agency

Not Expedient

Retro App received

Permission Granted

Duplicate

40



3.5. In the case of ‘Not Expedient’, the breach has been considered against the planning 

policies contained within the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Plan 2001-2011, the 

emerging Local Plan 2016-2036 and other material considerations such as National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 

 

As such, it was concluded that it would be inappropriate to take formal enforcement action, 

against these specific breaches, as the breach is either trivial or causes minimal harm in 

planning terms. 

 

This can be for a variety of reasons such as an extension that is 10cm higher than allowed 

under Permitted Development, what has taken place would have received planning 

permission had an application been made, untidy land where it is not considered 

significantly detrimental to the neighbourhood amenity etc. 

 

4. CONDITION MONITORING / HIGH HEDGES 

 

4.1. Of the 109 cases closed, 1 of these was a Condition Monitoring case; 

 

ENF/2020/82 – Thorneydown Farm, Moorhill Road, West End (HEWEB) 

 

4.2. Condition monitoring cases are not included in the KPI statistics as they are invariably 

lengthy investigations that include multiple phases of monitoring over significant periods of 

time and would fall outside of the priority target dates. High Hedge investigations are a paid 

for service which involve significant periods of time and are therefore also not included in 

the KPI statistics. 

 

5. RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATIONS 

 

5.1. During the three months of the first quarter of 2020/21, 5 applications were registered as 

being retrospective or containing a retrospective element arising from an enforcement 

investigation. Of these applications, 3 (60%) were refused and 2 (40%) were approved. 

These applications generated income of £1058. Of the applications refused, 2 were the 

subject of a further application which approved permission (Osborne Quarters) and the 

other is currently under investigation (Grange Road).  

 

6. PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 

6.1. Eastleigh Borough Council has a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) relating to 

Planning Enforcement. The first is to conclude 80% of planning enforcement complaints 

specific to their priority – target 80% (please see table below); 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 30 days 11 11 0 100% 

P2 90 days 24 22 2 92% 

P3 42 days 67 32 35 48% 

P4 42 days 6 4 2 67% 

 

41



For P1 cases, we had a number of investigations that required consultations with other 

departments, interviews under caution had to be arranged and carried out and retrospective 

applications were to be submitted – all of which led to our investigations not meeting the 30 

day target. 

 

P2 – The two P2 cases that fell outside of the target were historic cases dating back to 

2017/18 – Old Oak Farm (Stop Notice) and 15-17 Lower New Road (Section 215 Notice). 

These cases were lengthy and involved the serving of formal notices which as a result led 

to compliance periods being provided to allow for compliance.  

 

6.2. The second KPI relates to the investigating officer carrying out the initial site visit within a 

particular time – target 80% (please see table below); 

 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 1 working 
day 

11 11 0 100% 

P2 10 working 
days 

24 21 3 88% 

P3 20 working 
days 

67 54 13 81% 

* Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop assessment and are therefore not targeted. 

1 of the P2 cases was out of target by 14 days. Once investigated it was concluded that 

this case should have been a P3, not a P2 however, the priority was not changed.  The 

other 2 P2 cases did not require an urgent site inspection after a desktop assessment and 

initial calls with relevant parties were carried out. 

 

7. FORMAL ACTION 

 

7.1. During the first quarter of 2020/21, 1 formal Notice was served; 

 

Enforcement Notice  - 0 

Breach of Condition Notice - 0 

Stop/Temp Stop Notice  - 0 

Planning Contravention Notice - 1 

Section 215 Notice   - 0 

Section 330 Notice   - 0 

Remedial Notice   - 0 

 

7.2. Formal action was put on hold during the COVID-19 and was resumed mid-June 2020. 

This reflects in the low number of notices served. 

 

8. LEGAL ACTION 

 

8.1. No legal action is ongoing at present. 

 

9. ENFORCEMENT APPEALS 

 

42



9.1. No enforcement appeal decisions have been issued by the Planning Inspectorate, during 

this quarter. 

 

9.2. 1 appeal is currently ongoing at 4 New Road, Netley Abbey with the Planning Inspector 

Site Visit set for mid-August 2020. 

 

 

9.3. As of 31 July 2020, we have 3 appeals ongoing; 

 

REF LOCATION NOTICE & BREACH OFF STATUS 

E/16/16309 4 New Road, 
Netley Abbey 

EN – Unauthorised side 
extension 

PW PI site visit 
mid-August 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, off 
Tickner Close, 

Botley 

EN – Unauthorised 
Operational Development 
(Metal framed building & 

Tree House) 

CL/PW Start date 
10/03/20 

and Public 
Inquiry set 

for May 
2021 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, off 
Tickner Close, 

Botley 

EN – Unauthorised Change 
of Use (Agricultural Use to 
mixed use of Agriculture, 
Equestrian, stationing of 

caravans and non-
agricultural business use 

and storage) 

CL/PW Start date 
10/03/20 

and Public 
Inquiry set 

for May 
2021 

 

 

NAME:  Phil Wiseman 

DATE:  30 July 2020 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council 

Specialist Services 

 Housing & Development 

 

 

Planning Enforcement 

Quarterly Report 

(Quarter 2) 

 

 

1 July – 30 September 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

45



1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. This report seeks to provide a summary of the work undertaken, by the Enforcement 

Specialists and Local Response team across the Eastleigh borough relating to Planning 

Enforcement, for the period of 1 July to 30 September 2020. It reports the second quarterly 

statistics contributing to the work undertaken in the financial year of 2020/21, as well as a 

comparison of other relevant statistical data. 

 

2. NUMBER OF NEW COMPLAINTS 

 

2.1. The work of the enforcement team remains principally reactive to complaints and queries 

from Members, Parish Councils, staff and the public about alleged breaches of planning 

control. Team members, however, also have a number of cases which include proactive 

monitoring and engagement into planning matters. During the second quarter of 2020/21, a 

total of 169 new cases were registered in the Borough compared to 127 for the same 

period in 2019/20, a rise of 33%. The distribution of these cases received across this 

period is illustrated in Figure 1 below and compares the data of the first quarter in 2019/20. 

 

   2019/20       2020/21 

 

3. NUMBER OF CASES CLOSED 

 

3.1. The Enforcement Specialists & Local Response team concluded 182 cases during the 

second quarter of 2020/21 compared to 127 in 2019/20, a rise of 43%. The distribution of 

cases closed is illustrated in Figure 2 below and compares the data with the second 

quarter of 2019/20. 

 

19
14 12

29

18 16

27
24

30

39

30

37

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Jul Aug Sept Jul Aug Sept

Enforcement Specialists

Local Response

46



 
      2019/20          2020/21 

 

3.2. The number of cases closed across the Parishes 1 July – 30 September 2020; 

 

Parish 
Apr-
Jun 

Jul- 
Sep 

Total 
so far 

 

Allbrook & North Boyatt Parish Council 
4 4 8 

 

Bishopstoke Parish Council 
8 6 14 

 

Botley Parish Council 
3 16 19 

 

Bursledon Parish Council 
12 15 27 

 

Chandlers Ford Parish Council 
16 21 37 

 

Eastleigh 
12 21 33 

 

Fair Oak & Horton Heath 
7 11 18 

 

Hamble-Le-Rice Parish Council 
3 7 10 

 

Hedge End Town Council 
13 23 36 

 

Hound Parish Council 
14 44 58 

 

West End Parish Council 
17 14 32 

 

Outside of Borough 
0 0 0 

TOTAL 109 182 291 

 

 

 

 

 

24

15

23
27

14

44

18
21

26
29

21

47

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Jul Aug Sep Jul Aug Sep

Enforcement Specialists

Local Response

47



3.3. An enforcement case can be considered closed for a number of reasons, as shown in 

Table 2. The proportion of each reason type is also provided within this table. 

 

No. 
closed 

% Reason Explanation 

73 40% No Breach Development subject of the complaint or 
enquiry had; 

a. The benefit of planning permission 
b. Fell with ‘Permitted Development’ 

tolerances; or 
c. Did not constitute ‘development’ within 

the meaning of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

37 20% Breach Resolved The enquiry/complaint has been resolved 

6 3% Passed to Other 
Agency 

Issue being investigated by other agency 
such as Environment Agency, Hampshire 
County Council etc. 
 

11 6% Retro App received A retrospective application has been 
received and is being dealt with by the 
Planning department. 

19 11% Not Expedient Where a decision has been made that it 
would not be expedient to pursue formal 
enforcement action.  

31 17% Permission Granted Either planning permission had already been 
granted or a retrospective application was 
submitted and approved. 

5 3% Duplicate The issue is already being dealt with under 
another Enforcement reference number. 

Table 2: Cases closed during Quarter 2 – 2020/21 

 

3.4. The conclusions drawn on the cases closed during the second quarter of 2020/21 are 

illustrated within Figure 3. 

 

 
Figure 3: The conclusion of cases in the second quarter 1 July – 30 September 2020. 

42

35

27

16

3

1

Closed Cases

No Breach

Breach Resolved

Passed to Other Agency

Not Expedient

Permission Granted

Duplicate

48



 

 

3.5. In the case of ‘Not Expedient’, the breach has been considered against the planning 

policies contained within the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Plan 2001-2011, the 

emerging Local Plan 2016-2036 and other material considerations such as National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 

 

As such, it was concluded that it would be inappropriate to take formal enforcement action, 

against these specific breaches, as the breach is either trivial or causes minimal harm in 

planning terms. 

 

This can be for a variety of reasons such as an extension that is 10cm higher than allowed 

under Permitted Development, untidy land where it is not considered significantly 

detrimental to the neighbourhood amenity etc. 

 

4. CONDITION MONITORING / IGH HEDGE 

 

4.1. Of the 182 cases closed, 3 of these were Condition Monitoring cases and 1 a High Hedge 

case; 

 

Condition Monitoring 

ENF/2019/491 – 210 Chestnut Avenue, Eastleigh (EA) 

ENF/2019/34 – 10-12 Romsey Road, Eastleigh (EA) 

ENF/2018/26 – Land east of Knowle Lane, Fair Oak (BIFOHH) 

 

High Hedge 

ENF/2020/16 – 4 Queens View, Netley (BHH) 

 

4.2. Condition monitoring cases are not included in the KPI statistics as they are invariably 

lengthy investigations that include multiple phases of monitoring over significant periods of 

time and would fall outside of the priority target dates. High Hedge investigations are a paid 

for service which involve significant periods of time and are therefore also not included in 

the KPI statistics. 

 

5. RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATIONS 

 

5.1. During the second quarter of 2020/21, 10 applications were registered as being 

retrospective or containing a retrospective element arising from an enforcement 

investigation. Of these applications, 5 (50%) are yet to be determined and 5 (50%) have 

been approved. These applications generated income of £2526. The running figure for 

2020/21 is £3584. 

 

6. PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 

6.1. Eastleigh Borough Council has a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) relating to 

Planning Enforcement. The first is to conclude cases specific to their priority – target 80% 

(please see table below); 

 

49



 

 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 30 days 15 12 3 80% 

P2 90 days 66 24 45 36% 

P3 42 days 89 47 42 53% 

P4 42 days 8 7 1 88% 

 

For P2 cases, 28 of the 45 cases out of target related to an ongoing investigation at 

Osborne Quarters, Netley and were concluded just 6 days out of target. For the remaining 

17 cases, we had a number of investigations that required consultations with other 

departments, formal notices were served, appeals determined by the Planning Inspectorate 

and retrospective applications were to be submitted – all of which led to our investigations 

not meeting the 30 day target. 

 

P3 – 22 of the 42 cases out of target were concluded within 1 month of the original target 

date. A review of the remaining 20 cases will be carried out by the Local Operations & 

Parking Manager.  

 

6.2. The second KPI relates to the investigating officer carrying out the initial site visit within a 

particular time – target 80% (please see table below); 

 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 1 working 
day 

15 14 1 93% 

P2 10 working 
days 

66 64 2 97% 

P3 20 working 
days 

89 69 20 78% 

* Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop assessment and are therefore not targeted. 

 

7. FORMAL ACTION 

 

7.1. During the second quarter of 2020/21, 8 formal Notices were served compared to 9 for the 

same quarter in 2019/20; 

 

Enforcement Notice  - 0 

Breach of Condition Notice - 0 

Stop/Temp Stop Notice  - 1 

Planning Contravention Notice - 3 

Section 215 Notice   - 0 

Section 330 Notice   - 2 

Remedial Notice   - 2 

 

 

50



8. LEGAL ACTION 

  

8.1. There are currently 9 active Planning Enforcement cases with the Legal team; 

 

 Brookfield Car Boot site, Allington Lane, Fair Oak – Enforcement Notice 

 Land on corner of Peewit Hill and West End Road, Bursledon – Prosecution for 

non-compliance with Enforcement Notice 

 Westwood, Botley Road, West End – Enforcement Notice 

 Fairport House, Lands End Road, Bursledon – Enforcement Notice 

 Melliah, Botley Road, Horton Heath – Enforcement Notice 

 28 Allbrook Knoll, Eastleigh – Enforcement Notice 

 Little Acre, Allington Lane, Fair Oak – Prosecution for non-compliance with s330 

 213 Winchester Road, Chandlers Ford – Enforcement Notice 

 96 Bournemouth Road, Chandlers Ford – Direct Action 

 

 

9. ENFORCEMENT APPEALS 

 

9.1. 1 enforcement appeal decision has been issued by the Planning Inspectorate, during this 

quarter. 

APP/W1715/C/18/3218884 – 4 New Road, Netley   

The appeal against ground c failed but ground a was successful and planning permission 

was granted for the single storey side extension. 

NOTE:- 

Ground A – That planning permission should be granted for what is alleged in the Notice. 

Ground C – That there has not been a breach of planning control. 

 

9.2. 1 appeal has been validated by the Planning Inspectorate during this quarter; 

 

• 33 Freegrounds Road, Hedge End (Remedial Notice relating to a high hedge) 

 

 

9.3. As of 31 October 2020 we have 3 appeals ongoing; 

 

REF LOCATION NOTICE & BREACH OFF STATUS 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, BOT EN – Unauthorised 
Operational Development 

(Metal framed building & Tree 
House) 

PW Public 
Inquiry set 

for May 
2021 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, BOT EN – Unauthorised Change 
of Use (Agricultural Use to 
mixed use of Agriculture, 
Equestrian, stationing of 

caravans and non-agricultural 
business use and storage) 

PW Public 
Inquiry set 

for May 
2021 

51



ENF/2019/382 33 Freegrounds 
Road, Hedge End 

RN – High Hedge PW Awaiting 
start date 

 

 

10. PROSECUTIONS 

 

10.1. There is 1 case that is currently at prosecution stage; 

 

ENF/2018/319 

Land at the corner of Peewit Hill and West End Road 

Non-compliance with an Enforcement Notice relating to the siting of an unauthorised 

container 

Status:- Case currently with the Legal team who are preparing a summons. Once served 

we await a start date from Southampton Magistrates Court 

 

 

NAME: Phil Wiseman 

DATE:  31 October 2020 

52



Eastleigh Borough Council 

Specialist Services 

 Housing & Development 

 

 

Planning Enforcement 

Quarterly Report 

(Quarter 3) 

 

 

1 October – 31 December 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53



1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. This report seeks to provide a summary of the work undertaken, by the Enforcement 

Specialists and Local Response team across the Eastleigh borough relating to Planning 

Enforcement, for the period of 1 October to 31 December 2020. It reports the third 

quarterly statistics contributing to the work undertaken in the financial year of 2019/20, as 

well as a comparison of other relevant statistical data. 

 

2. KEY POINTS 

 

2.1. The key points taken from comparisons with the same period last year; 

 

• New complaints received up 12% (+16 cases) 

• Cases concluded up 39% (+42 cases) 

• Cases in: Allbrook down 100% 

Bishopstoke down 36% 

Botley up 62% 

Bursledon up 10% 

Chandlers Ford up 28% 

Hamble up 30% 

Hedge End up 29% 

Hound up 50% 

Eastleigh up 35% 

Fair Oak and Horton Heath up 45% 

West End up 18% 

• Condition Monitoring cases closed up 67%. 

• 13 retrospective applications received, an increase of 5  

• KPI’s 

Concluded P1 up 33% 

P2 down 2% 

P3 up 9% 

P4 up 100% 

• Site Visits P1 up 16% 

P2 down 2% 

P3 up 6% 

• 4 formal Notices served, an increase of 1  

 

3. NUMBER OF NEW COMPLAINTS 

 

3.1. The work of the enforcement team remains principally reactive to complaints and queries 

from Members, Parish Councils, staff and the public about alleged breaches of planning 

control. Team members, however, also have a number of cases which include proactive 

monitoring and engagement into planning matters. During the third quarter of 2020/21, a 

total of 140 new cases were registered in the Borough compared to 124 for the same 

period in 2019/20 – a rise of 12%. The distribution of these cases received across this 

period is illustrated in Figure 1 below and compares the data of the third quarter in 

2019/20. 

54



 

   2019/20       2020/21 

 

4. NUMBER OF CASES CLOSED 

 

4.1. The Enforcement Specialists & Local Response team concluded 151 cases during the third 

quarter of 2020/21 compared to 109 in 2019/20 – a rise of 39%. This figure includes a 

number of highly complex cases, both new and a few brought forward from the past twelve 

months. The distribution of cases closed is illustrated in Figure 2 below and compares the 

data with the third quarter of 2019/20. 

 

 
      2019/20          2020/21 

 

 

 

15
18 19

12

20

12

28

22 22

40
35

21

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Oct Nov Dec Oct Nov Dec

Enforcement Specialists

Local Response

12
16 16

27

19
14

28

17
20

38 39

14

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Oct Nov Dec Oct Nov Dec

Enforcement Specialists

Local Response

55



4.2. The number of cases closed across the Parishes 1 October – 31 December 2020; 

 

Parish 
Apr -
Jun 

Jul - 
Sep 

Oct - 
Dec 

Total 
so far 

 

Allbrook & North Boyatt Parish Council 
1 2 0 3 

 

Bishopstoke Parish Council 
12 11 7 30 

 

Botley Parish Council 
2 8 13 23 

 

Bursledon Parish Council 
9 10 10 29 

 

Chandlers Ford Parish Council 
33 34 36 103 

 

Hamble-Le-Rice Parish Council 
5 3 10 18 

 

Hedge End Town Council 
18 14 14 46 

 

Hound Parish Council 
15 9 4 28 

 

Eastleigh 
19 8 20 47 

 

Fair Oak & Horton Heath 
18 14 20 52 

 

West End Parish Council 
19 11 17 47 

 

Outside of Borough 
0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 151 124 151 426 

 

 

4.3. An enforcement case can be considered closed for a number of reasons, as shown in 

Table 2. The proportion of each reason type is also provided within this table. 

 

No. 
closed 

% Reason Explanation 

60 40% No Breach Development subject of the complaint or 
enquiry had; 

a. The benefit of planning permission 
b. Fell with ‘Permitted Development’ 

tolerances; or 
c. Did not constitute ‘development’ within 

the meaning of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

47 31% Breach Resolved The enquiry/complaint has been resolved 

9 6% Retro App Received After consultation with the Planning team an 
application has been retrospectively invited 
and is being dealt with by the Planning 
department. 

5 3% Passed to Other 
Agency 

Issue being investigated by other agency 
such as Environment Agency, Hampshire 
County Council etc. 

25 16% Not Expedient Where a decision has been made that it 
would not be expedient to pursue formal 
enforcement action.  

56



1 1% Permission Granted Planning permission had already been 
granted. 

4 3% Duplicate The issue is already being dealt with under 
another Enforcement reference number. 

Table 2: Cases closed during Quarter 3 – 2020/21 

 

4.4. The conclusions drawn on the cases closed during the third quarter of 2020/21 are 

illustrated within Figure 3. 

 

 
Figure 3: The conclusion of cases in the third quarter 1 October – 31 December 2020. 

4.5. In the case of ‘Not Expedient’, the breach has been considered against the planning 

policies contained within the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Plan 2001-2011, the 

emerging Local Plan 2016-2036 and other material considerations such as National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 

 

As such, it was concluded that it would be inappropriate to take formal enforcement action, 

against these specific breaches, as the breach is either trivial or causes minimal harm in 

planning terms. 

 

This can be for a variety of reasons for example, an extension that is 10cm higher than 

allowed under Permitted Development, untidy land where it is not considered significantly 

detrimental to the neighbourhood amenity etc. 

 

5. CONDITION MONITORING 

 

5.1. Of the 109 cases closed, 3 of these were Condition Monitoring cases; 

 

• E/16/16212 – The Summit, Church Road, Bishopstoke (BIFOHH) 

• ENF/2017/127 – Land at Hatch Farm, North of Barbe Baker Avenue, West End 

(HEWEB) 

• ENF/2020/385 – Fair Oak Lodge, Allington Lane, Fair Oak (BIFOHH) 

 

60

47

9

5

25

1

Closed Cases

No Breach

Breach Resolved

Retro App Received

Passed to Other Agency

Not Expedient

Permission Granted

Duplicate

57



5.2. Condition monitoring cases are not included in the KPI statistics within section 6 of this 

report as they are invariably lengthy investigations that include multiple phases of 

monitoring over significant periods of time and would fall outside of the priority target dates. 

 

6. RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATIONS 

 

6.1. During the third quarter of 2020/21, 13 applications were registered as being retrospective 

or containing a retrospective element arising from an enforcement investigation. They 

related to a mix of outbuildings, change of use and addition of a first-floor window. Of these 

applications, 2 (15%) have been approved with the remaining 11 (85%) yet to be 

determined. These applications generated income of £2910. The running figure for 

2020/21 is £11,976. 

 

7. PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 

7.1. Eastleigh Borough Council has a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) relating to 

Planning Enforcement.  

 

7.2. The first KPI relates to concluding cases specific to their priority – target 80% (please see 

table below); 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 30 days 14 13 1 93% 

P2 90 days 38 23 15 61% 

P3 42 days 80 44 36 55% 

P4 42 days 15 15 0 100% 

 

For P2 cases, four cases were historic (more than 2 years old) and required formal action 

by way of a Breach of Condition Notice, an Enforcement Notice and a S215 Notice, four 

were landscaping breaches of new builds and four were concluded within 4 weeks of 

passing the target date. 

 

P3 – 14 of the cases outside of the target date were concluded within the following month. 

The remaining figures are to be investigated by the Local Area Services Manager.   

 

7.3. The third KPI relates to the investigating officer carrying out the initial site visit within a 

particular time – target 80% (please see table below); 

 

Priority Target Cases Closed Within 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

% 

P1 1 working 
day 

14 12 2 86% 

P2 10 working 
days 

38 29 9 76% 

P3 20 working 
days 

80 75 5 94% 

* Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop assessment and are therefore not targeted. 

 

58



8. FORMAL ACTION 

 

8.1. During the third quarter of 2020/21, 4 formal Notices were served compared to 3 for the 

same quarter in 2019/20; 

 

Enforcement Notice  - 3 

Breach of Condition Notice - 0 

Stop/Temp Stop Notice  - 0 

Planning Contravention Notice - 1 

Section 215 Notice   - 0 

Section 330 Notice   - 0 

 

 

9. ENFORCEMENT APPEALS 

 

9.1. There have been no appeals determined during this period. 

  

9.2. 3 appeals have been validated by the Planning Inspectorate during this quarter; 

 

• Little Hatts Recreation Ground, Botley (Enforcement Notice for unauthorised fencing 

in excess of 1m adjacent to the highway) 

• 20 Corinthian Road, Chandlers Ford (Enforcement Notice for unauthorised fencing in 

excess of 1m adjacent to the highway) 

• Twelve Acres, Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End (s215 Notice for untidy land) 

 

9.3. As of 31 January 2021, we have 3 appeals ongoing; 

 

REF LOCATION NOTICE & BREACH OFF STATUS 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, BOT EN – Unauthorised 
Operational Development 

(Metal framed building & Tree 
House) 

PW Awaiting 
start date 

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, BOT EN – Unauthorised Change 
of Use (Agricultural Use to 
mixed use of Agriculture, 
Equestrian, stationing of 

caravans and non-agricultural 
business use and storage) 

PW Awaiting 
start date 

ENF/2019/382 33 Freegrounds 
Road, H/E 

Remedial Notice served for 
high hedge 

PW Awaiting 
start date 

 

 

10. PROSECUTIONS 

 

10.1. A prosecution for non-compliance with an Enforcement Notice for a site in Bursledon 

is due to be heard at Southampton Magistrates Court on 22 February 2021. 

 

 

 

 59



11. TEAM MATTERS 

 

11.1. Planning Enforcement Officer Chris Last left the organisation in December 2020. An 

internal advert was advertised but without any applicants so an advert will be advertised 

externally by the end of January 2021. The cases that Chris Last was working on have 

been reassigned to Phil Wiseman and John Saunders.  

  

11.2. Both Phil Wiseman and John Saunders have recently attended an online training 

session on ‘Evidence Gathering’. This included an overview of the necessary evidence 

required for a successful prosecution and guidance on the formal process. 

 

NAME: PHIL WISEMAN 

DATE:  31 January 2021 

60


	Agenda
	6 Housing Revenue Account
	Housing Revenue Account App 1

	7 Planning Enforcement Performance
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4


